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INTRODUCTION

We all came for four or five years, but the time went
on so fast, we just didn‘t think, until we end up doing
twenty-five, thirty years instead of five. Now we're here to
stay. Where people had sold out their little holdings, they
didn’t have anywhere to go back to. They remained here
continually trying to work to see how much they could
accumulate to go back and start setting themselves up
again. But time run out, y'see. They're still here and
without anything accumulated to go back. So it's much
better for them to stay where they are. Some are really
prepared to stay. Others are compelled to stay and they
accept it. “‘l have to stay — well, | must be satisfied”.

| think our policy makers too have just realised what is
happening. They too didn't realise that in time it would go
on as it goes and that so many people would be here. So
of course they are just beginning to take some notice or
trying to see what can be done to make these people
happy so they can enjoy their old age.

| don’t think we exactly want something different.
There are little bits of our cultural background we would
like to keep as elderly people and enjoy. We would like
more of us to be together, so that sometimes, if we go out
to the park, we can sit together and talk together of old
times. | think that would make us happy. | would like to
see what | call clusters. Really you know, | don’t want us
to be isolated from other elderlies, but if we have two lots
of Caribbean homes together, then houses for other
elderlies, and then another couple of Caribbean houses
further on. My main concern is that we should not be
separated from the people of our cultural background. We
want some others to be there. We want to speak of old
times. We may even sing some of our old songs. We may
remember the days that were spent at home, the
moonshine nights we sat under a tree or in a big yard and
sang together. Our elderly people at home did that too.
They were happy. | think the outdoor life helps elderly
people to survive and be happy.

As you go along in this environment today, you find
elderly people you would like to talk to, but they look as if
they've got the world on their shoulders so you‘re even

afraid to approach them. We really want to be more
together, more united, because old age should not have us
isolated, old age should not bring us to the point where we
are forgotten. Some elderly we don’t even know where
they are. Perhaps to draw them out of their loneliness we
should have people of their own background in touch,
making a survey if we have to, visiting house to house and
letting them realise we are not coming to push them away
into almshouses or places like that, but wanting to make
friends with them. | look at it this way; whatever is being
done, there should be people of their background to
approach them. That is important because | believe they
would give such people more confidence.

| think a lot of young people are interested, and | think
we could get them involved too, because whatever
happens they’d be very good; they’re strong, they have
the energy to get around.

We all have loneliness, but thinking of old people of
the Caribbean, this loneliness is new to them. Old people
welcome a visitor, and for that reason, back home we
would always remember that Granny Margaret lives next
door and it would always be my duty to send my children
over to see how she is getting on, and she welcomed
them. Here nobody wants to know. Everybody is too busy
looking after their own business and the elderly then
remain on their own, until it forms a part of their life.

There’s barriers between old and young, there's
barriers between neighbours and neighbours, there’s
barriers between old and old. This country is full of
barriers. This country is full of people who are in pain and
longing. If we break down our own barriers, because we
too can be isolated, then maybe we can help somebody
else. We are short of places to meet. We want more of
such places. Some people will want to be together with
people of their own kind; some will prefer to be mixed.
People will want to know they are welcome to visit these
places. People shut themselves in and decide to stay in.
Sometimes it’s despondency. We have to have a future of
using whatever we've got as long as we are here. Life is
worth living. We can be cheerful.

MRS MABEL CARTER



CYPRUS

The reason | came to England was that my Father died
and my Mother had to work. In the end | decided that |
must go out to work. It wasn’t right for my mother to work
so hard and earn so little money. My brother was already
here so | wrote to him and he had an invitation made out to
me to come to England. When | came, | came to work and
stay.

| don’t know what | expected England to be like
because | knew nothing about it. But once here | didn’t
find it strange at all, | liked it. Now | regard it as my home.

When | first came | stayed with an English family who
were very kind. They taught me a few words like
“scissors”, ““thimble”, “needle”. They knew | was going
to start dressmaking. ““Yes”, “Thank you'’, they taught
me a few words.

My first job was dressmaking. A relative introduced
me to the factory. | was a dressmaker, but | didn’t know
how to use the electric machine. The boss wanted work
not chatting.

If the boss ever wanted to tell me anything, he would
have to do it through an interpeter.

One day he wanted me to work on a Saturday
because he needed the work, so he told another Cypriot
woman, who understood English, to tell me. Well she
didn’t, so of course | didn’t know. The following Monday |
went to work and he started to shout at me in English.
Well, | didn’t understand what he was saying, so | started
to cry and left. | went to Charlotte Street where there was
a grocer whom | knew. | asked him to please come and see
what this man wanted and why he was shouting at me. |
was frightened you see in case he gave me the sack and,

without the language, where would | find another job?

The man came with me and sorted out what was
happening. As it turned out the woman didn’t tell me, so |
couldn’t come to work if | didn’t know.

After that little mishap the boss and | got on quite
well, because you see | can’t work and talk, so | only
worked.

During the war | was making government surplus
clothes, trousers and jackets. | was sewing a brown piece
of paper, triangular in shape, covered in a solution which
melted the pads of your finger. It was for the soldiers to
put on their cuffs, so that if the Germans dropped the gas
it would change colour.

We would make one hundred pieces for two shillings.

They used to have buckets of liquid so we could soak
our fingers to try and heal them. | worked there for a long
time. We used to earn £1/10 shillings a week.

| remember one year it snowed so much, the snow
turned into slush, that was difficult. | used to go to work
with a hot water bottle on my stomach.

During the war we used to sleep in the Underground.

After doing this for some time, we decided to go to
Wales.

They were dropping bombs, flying bombs. When the
planes came the tail of the planes were red, when the tail
turned black you knew they were going to drop the
bombs. After that they said they were going to drop a
silent bomb. That’s when | said to my husband “It’s time
we left this place, for about a year. Then we can see
what'’s going to happen. Otherwise, as we sleep, we could
find ourselves dead.”
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We went to Cardiff, near the harbour.

That’s when | had an idea about opening a Dry
Cleaners, because all the officers and soldiers came here,
and they would need their clothes cleaned, ironed and
maybe some alterations. Quickly, my husband went and
bought me a sewing machine. He made a table and bought
an iron. This was all in a ground floor flat. He put a sign
outside and we were ready to start.

The soldiers came and the work was plentiful.

All the Greek Cypriots who left London met up in
Cardiff. We made a little cafe where we would all gather,
play records and enjoy ourselves. | really enjoyed myself at
Cardiff.

Near our Cafe there were some Greeks from Greece:
we made an arrangement with them and set up a bigger
Cafe with music and coffee. We passed away our time
wonderfully just as if we were in Cyprus.

The Captains used to come to us, so | could change
their stripes.

| used to ask them “When do you want them back?"’
They used to reply “Not tomorrow, the day after.” | used
to write on a ticket, ‘“Must be ready for Wednesday.”” All
sorts of things, | used to do, turn up hems on trousers,
turn the collars round and cuffs. My husband used to iron
the trousers, also use a liquid to take marks off, with of
course the baby next to us in the pram.

| used to be embarrassed to charge a lot. They would
ask me “How much?” “Ten shillings? Is that all right?”’ |
would ask. “Oh yes, dear” they replied. My husband
would say, “Charge them a bit more if they find it cheap.”
I couldn’t, it was such an easy job, | couldn’t charge them
more. They used to pay me ten shillngs and also drop five
shillings in the baby’s pram.

My husband and | got on very well, but he met
another woman, she won him over, so he went off with
her, and left me with the baby. Then | had a lot of
problems.

| somehow knew what to do. | am the one who got
things going for the divorce on my own with no one to
help me.

When you love your husband, and he goes off and
leaves you with the baby what are you to do? But
somehow with God’s help, my child went to school, |
worked, he became an educated man and he is in Africa at
the moment working.

| make do with what | get.

| went to visit Cyprus and enjoyed it a lot, my Mother
was also very pleased but, after about a month | started to
get homesick, for England. “My God,” my Mother would
cry “This is your home, tell me what does England do to
you that you want to rush over there?"’

| knew that over here | could work, earn money, set
myself up and dress in nice clothes, | didn’t want to stay in
Cyprus.

Life in Cyprus has changed, it's become worse than in
England. They used to put England down, but | am afraid
they’ve got worse. Before, a girl would never go out with a
boy walking along the street, but now they do, and the
Mother sees and doesn’t say anything.

Now | would be happy to go back to Cyprus for a
holiday, but to stay, “No".

The only thing | want is a telephone, they won'’t put
me in a telephone. | made an application years ago, and
still | don’t have one.

| live on my own, if something happens to me no one
will know, and | could die. The other day when something
was wrong with me, if my friend had not come round to
see me, something terrible could have happened. | could
have died and rotted here and no one would have found
me.

They say that | am all right, that | am not ill. Are they
waiting for me to become ill, and shouting from my
window for help before they do anything? Why shouldn’t
they help me? I've been in this country for so many years,
why, why?

| want to go on holiday, my bones are so stiff.

| miss my son, when Easter or Christmas comes, and |
am on my own . . . now if my son was here, | think | would
be the luckiest woman. | wouldn’t care if | didn’t have
anything else, so long as | had my son near.

AT
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| started school at seven years. At twelve years | went
to a convent. After a year my Mother couldn’t afford the
payments so we made an arrangement that | would clean
the school and that would do as payment.

But after a while | started to get tired, so | left at the
age of fourteen.

| started work with a News Company as a projec-
tionist. | cleaned, painted and did a bit of carpentry. |
would start work at 5a.m. and finish at 1 a.m. As a result |
did nothing but work. | worked there until the day before |
came to England. | had heard that the Government was
looking for some people to go and work in Wales under
contract.

We were sixty Greek girls. We left from Limassol in a
small boat and made for Italy. As we were pulling away |
got very tearful and wanted to go back.

They dropped us off at Italy to wait for the morning
train to Calais.

While we were waiting in Italy we had to sleep on our
suitcases in the Station.

We got quite thirsty and wanted water. | went up to
an Italian and asked for ““Neron, neron’’ and did the sign
for drink, he replied ‘“Agwar, agwar’. In Greek agwar
means to hear. He kept saying ‘“Agwar agwar” | would
reply “I can hear, | can hear. It's water we want'’. We
somehow sorted it out.

In Wales | worked on a conveyor belt canning fruit.
We were Spanish, Greeks, all races mixed.

-
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The first time | saw snow was in Wales. | woke up in
the dormitory, and | couldn’t see out of the window,
“Who's painted the windows?’* Everyone gathered round
the windows and one woman in a deep voice said “They
should have a bad year, they’ve painted our windows, and
we want air”’.

Because | had come to England under contract | was
obliged to stay with the job until the contract finished.
Then | would be sent home. | wanted to stay on. As time
went on quite a few girls left, leaving only fourteen of us,
so we fourteen decided to leave. There was an English
man who owned a caravan who was willing to get us to
London. | went straight to my brother’s house.

Once | had arrived it wasn’t anything as | expected. |
was expecting to find educated English people like those |
met when | was a child in Cyprus.

| saw a lot of strange things.

The first time | went to Regents Park | saw a man and
woman naked, | was shocked, | panicked, | started
shouting to my brother, “Come quickly, call the police,
look at what they are doing”. “‘Be quiet,”” my brother said.
“This is how things are done now in England”’. And that’s
what |'ve stayed with.

My biggest problem started once | left my brother’s
house and moved in with a woman | worked with. | didn't
know the language or dress making. | worked in various
dress factories. By this time | was an illegal immigrant
because | had broken the contract in Wales. The police
eventually found me and sent me to an immigration office,
where | was asked many questions.

““Why did | stay in England and not Canada, America,
Australia?”’ | told her | liked the people and that | had a
brother here also. She also asked what work | was doing
and what | was doing with the money. | told her that | sent
my Mother some and the rest | lived on, and that | had
never asked the Government for anything.

She asked me to leave the details with her and that
she would do what she could. Within twelve days she sent
me a visa allowing me to stay, also work, do anything. The
only thing is that if | go to Cyprus and stay over two years
my visa will expire. Now | am a legal citizen, but the visa
still applies.

| returned to Cyprus just after the War of 1976. Things
have changed. Everyone has moved away, | couldn’t eat
because of all the suffering. It's a tragedy what has
happened to Cyprus.

| want to go home but | have to wait and see what's
going to happen to my health. |'ve got used to this place,
but to stay forever? No. | miss my relatives.

When you live on your own, you get depressed. | like
it when someone visits me, one of my friends, and we go
to Oxford Street to have a Pizza. It is lovely. You can go
out and enjoy yourself if you have someone with you, but
on your own you get very lonely. If | was to leave England,
| would miss my friends. | do and | don’t want to go back.



“Apxeda va wnalve oxorelo ota egtd pov yxpbvia Tlal ota SGSexa
wov xpbvia exfia xadoypnéc. Metd mov éva xpbvo 1 pdvva pov ev
epnopoioe va xiepdoer Teg wAnpwpéc, €tor T('eyd €xpeme va
xadapllew To oxorelo, TCial voftn firav n mAnpwufi. Metd Spwe xov
Alov tliaipby dpxeda va Bapxofpat, €1oL TlL'eyé fpua ota Sexatéo-
cepa pov xpbvia. “Apxeda Sovieid pe piav exaipelav, To Nuobg,

gav 7o guvepd. Bxaddpila, €Baga, 3§’ éxapva TCal Alnv EvAovpyixfiv.
‘Apxegxa oTEC Wi& M @p& TCeTéAsiwva aveg xEvViEe. “AAAOY XOV
bovAeidy Tlat T(mote dAAov - €uerva TCiapal wg tnv nuépay xov fipta
oty AyyAlav. “Axovoa 63¢ 3 xvBépvnoig L{nté avdpdxoug ve mav va
bouhégouv oty OvaAilav pe xovipétov,

El(pacte 60 Kvxpaleg, epfapev xov Tny Aepeaby pe piay pixpfiv pépxav
yia Ty Itaklav. MéAig egebuapev, €xiaia t('é8eka va cmiotpiw
nlow. Agfixav pag otny ItaAlav yia va mepipévovpe To spafvo,
enfoapev mdvw mov T8¢ PaAlroeg pag, xepipévoviag To Tpalvo 1o

npwl yia 70 Kada(, péox otov ovadué., ESidofoapes xoAAd tLal cdérapev
vepd, Exfia o'éva Itadé tlal tov elxa "vepd, vepd" 1lal €4eLfd Tov
pe vofipata - pov axdvinoa "dxova, dxova" gta eAAnvind dxova onpalvet
dxovoe. 1o téAhog Ta exavagépape. LNy OvaArla ebdobAs¢a péoa oe
qutelec. Elpacte Ixaviblor, “EAAnveg, ®oAAéc pétoeg vexatwpévec.
EEfxwvnoa pfoa mov 7o Swudtio xov tlowpofvrar, €xoL Sev epxopoboa

va bu €Egw mov to xapddupo. Moubg exoyidrigev ta mapblupa; OGAAOL
pag epalevifixapey yupbv mov ta mapdbupa tCal pia yevalxa pe xovspf
guvfi pag ef{xe: "Ev vdxovaiv Gainpov 1aipbv, ePdadiv Ta xapadlpua
pag yperalobuactev afpav”, Exeidfi fipra gy AyyAlay pe xovipdrov
£xpenev va pelvw otav bovherdv péxpr mov va TeAerdioer 10 xovrphtov,

aMoul 8a pag eotéAhav xlow. “Héeha va pelvw omy AyyAlav. Me Tov

Tacpbv egdaciy pepinég, agfivoviag pag pévo 14 xonéAreg, £tou
axogagloapev TCaL or Sexatécoepis va glovpev, “Hiay €vag
EyyMCog mou elxev éva xapafdvi L’ expodupoxorfidnxev va pag

pépeL oto Aovélvo. Exfia xat'evdeclav gvo oxlt. Tov adeAgod pov,

MéArc Eptaca Te xpduata Sev fitav Ta (Sia bxwg Ta exeplpeva.
Exeplpeve va bw poppuwpévove EyyAffovg, Tove (Siove mew eouvdvinox
oty Kfxpov étay fipovy pitoud., E(Sa xold xapbieva xphuata.

‘Otav exfia yia xp@sn gopd oto X4Yvt dpx, eléa T(TOLPOUG pia
yovalxa tlal €vay &v@pwxov, cfagvidotnua, egofisnxa, Tlal &pxeda

va guvéCw Tov appod wow: "“EAa yifopa tCal gdvaie tng agtuvouplag,
ua 6e efvia pxov xduvovor" "Liwxf", Aakel uov o appsec pov.

nTobvia xpduata yivfioxouvtar péo' oty AyyAla" 1('évol covvfigiod Ta,

To peyaibtepo npbfAnua dpxioe btav €yua mov To omiTL Tov apgod

pov tCat epetandpioa pe pid yevalxa mov eSovieinape pall.

Ev fitepa nv yAdoor fi va pdgxw. EbolAc¢a e %oAAd @éxTopuc.
Tobvtn oTLyRfv fiwouv pia xaphvopn, yeatl €omaca To xovipdTo pov
otnv OvaAila. H actuvopla teAund pe avaxdAvge (' corelAapev oto
Ipwxpéroiov bmov exduav pov pepixfc cpwtficerg. Iiatl epelviona
gty AyyAlav TCe 6¢ otov Kavabdv, Aucpinfiv, AvotpeAlav. Elxa

+ne "apéoaxovy pow Ta mAdouata T4’ éxw tCal Tov appbv pov bapfoa."
Epéinoe pe v'agfiow 6Aeg teg Aenvopfpeieg pald tng Flal Sa mpoowa-
8figer va xdpet 6ty pmopel, Méox ge 12 pépec £oterAsv pov wnv BlCav,
va pxopd va pelvw, va SovAfgwm, va xdpve 8ti €Aw. To pévo mpdua

efvar 61. av mdw otny Kéxpo tlal pelvw mapaxbvw xou 6xué yxpbvia,

n Blga pov ev va serevdoce, Tdpa elpar vépipa, adré n Blla pov
xpevdletar avavéwon. Exfia otnv KOxpo mpiv 10 mbéAspo T0 1974, Ta
xpéuata aAMifaoiv, © xadévag Eguev, bev pxmopofox va gdw xov TNV
ozevoxdpia pou, Efvar pia tpaywdla to 67i guvéfnxe otnv Kbxpo.

‘Ededa va wdw otny Kfxpo, arld £8eAa va dw tnv vyelev pov xphta.
EouvvfidLoa toftov tov témov, aAM yia ve pelwe xdvia, 6. Excdé-

punoa toug ovyyevelg pov.

“Otav peivlioxeig péyn oov, orevoxwpxéocai. Apfoxes pov Stav
xdnovog pe emionfgretar, €vag glhog pov, tlal xduev oto “Ofgopvs
ZtpfiT yia va ghpe pia xltox, Ev Spopga. Mnopelc va mag €Ew Tlas
v'anolafoerc Tov eavtéy cov, aAAd ubvn cov airgddvecar téAera
pévn. Av gfw mov TRy AyyAla ev va medupfiow Toug gfAove wov,
val, yiauté ¢ 86iw va xdw xCow.
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My Mother died when | was three years old, my
Father was a shepherd in Cyprus. | went to school when |
was seven years old and left when | was ten years old.

| started work with my Father looking after the
animals. He didn’t have any aspirations for me because it
was the done thing to go and help with the job your
parents are doing.

| came here, after | married, with my husband. He had
visited England twice before.

| thought England would be different. What | really
liked were the parks where the children played.

The first year we arrived it was very cold. We weren't
used to the cold. We lived in one room , we used to light
the paraffin heater and huddle round it.

| never used to go out because my youngest was only
three years old and my husband didn’t want me to give her
to a minder, so | could go out to work. As a result | never
went out.

The first house we lived in was in Bermondsey. There
was a Cypriot man who was renting a house. He couldn’t
afford the £200 deposit so my husband decided to share
the house with him. We paid £100 each and we took over
one of the flats. The rent was £3 a week, | don’t know if
that included the rates. My husband dealt with these
matters. We moved into the house in October. The
following March | became ill, | went into hospital, | lost a
baby. There was something wrong with me, pain, | had
another operation.

Meanwhile, the house was up for demolition and the
owners were looking for the official tenants so they could
give them a flat. They wouldn’t give us a flat because we
were only sub-letting the house. So my husband had to
start looking for somewhere else to live.

My Uncle found us somewhere to live in Harrow
Road.

My youngest daughter was going to school now, and

| was tired of being home so | found work in a dress
factory.

My husband decided he wanted to go to Australia, so
in 1968 we got all our papers ready. In the meantime, he
heard about a shop being sold, so he had to make up his
mind whether to go to Australia or buy the shop. In 1970
we bought the shop.

We had to work hard and save every penny. Between
1962-1970 my husband used to go to Cyprus every two
years on his own and take gifts. As a result, we never had
any money. Somehow we got a mortgage, and the rest we
borrowed from relatives.

Between 1962-1970 | used to save money secretly and
| used to put money away for the girls, in the Post Office.

My first job was finishing in a dress factory with Greek
people. | had a go on the over-locker, but | wasn't ex-
perienced so | only lasted a month on the over-locker.

Then | went to a factory where they sewed bags, |
worked for about 2 weeks there. | didn’t know how to use
the machines, so they sacked me. | then did some under-
pressing with some Jewish people who were sewing
wedding gowns. | worked there for about 3 months.

The way | learned to use the sewing machines was
through arelative. One day a relative came round to invite
me to her wedding. She asked me what work | was doing.

“Well this and that”, | replied. “’I am under-pressing
during the day, but want to learn how to use the sewing
machine.” “I'll take you with me to my work, you can sit
beside me and I'll teach you"’, she said, and so it was.

Oh, when I first came to England | found the language
very difficult. | was working with Greek people most of the
time, so there was no real need for me to learn English.

It’s only been in the last ten years that | managed to
learn any English | was working in a factory with English
and Indian women, so | had to pick up the words and try
and make some sense out of them in order to com-
municate.
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H pdvva pov enédavev Stav fluovy tpidy xpowdv, o Tllpng wov fizav
Booxbg grnvy Kfxpov, Exfia oxoAelov xov fipovy e9té ypovdv T{s £Bxnxa
xov fluovy béxa xpovdiv. “Apxeda SovAeidv pe tov T(lpnv pov, Béoxovrag
Ta (da. Ev fiorev tixote gurodolec via pévav, exeibfic €tor fitay

xov exduvav - va Ponfofy ta maLéxid Toug yovnodg Toug atny SovAeidv

Tovg.

‘Epta Sapfoa petd xov mavipebrnxa pe tov dvipav pov, TCuelvog efoLev

Eavdptes oxvé gopéc otny AyyAlav.

Evéuila swg n AyyAfa evvétovy Siagopetixfi, TLelvoy xov pow Gpeoxev

zpéypatic fitav ta ndpxa xov exallav Ta pwpd.
Tov xpdtov xpbvov xov fiptapey fitay mOAASY xpfov. Ev fijuaotev ocuvn-
@vouévor oto xpov. BExatoixofoapev o' éva dwpdtiov, agralvvapev Tnv

abxav tov zetperalov t{'exadodpactiv yupdy ng.

Nott€ pov ev €gnaivva €Ew, exeidfi To pLtobtTepov pwpbdv pov fizav

Tpedv xpovdv tL'o &vipag pov ev €8cAev va Tny agfivvovuev ce mapapdvayv

yi@ va mnalvwe va SovAetxw. I'ia Tobtov ev €gxaivve xotté pov £Ew.

To xpétov pag anltiv fitav oto Mxéppovion. O vouxotipng fizav
Evxpafog. Ev elotev va B&Aer texé{utov Oxiaxboveg Alpeg, Tt €tou
o dvipac pov amogdoioev va poipactel to oxf{tiv pallv Tov - exAnpd-
gapev exatéy Alpeg o xadévag TCu exfipapey €va mov ta Siapeplopata,
To volxiv fitav Tperg Alpeg tnv egropdday, aArd ev nEépw av fitav
paldy pe ta péntc. O dvipag pov exavévilev tolteg Tec umodéosrg.

Eue (vapev tlevpéor xeplxov evnd pfiveg - cpetanoploauey pec’ gto
onlTiv Tov Oxvéfpnv. Tov dAdov MdpTny appégtnoa, €umnxa cto
voooxopelov, €xaca €vav pwpbv. Elxa xévov, xdti elxe xdder,
éxapa anbpa pidv eyxelpnonv. Ev <o uetal$ axopagloay va yxpe-
uloovy to ox(Tiv Tlal ov voixos{épnéeg eyvpebnay Tovg véuipoug
voixiaotée yia va Toug Sboovv Siapépiapav. Epdg ev pag zéiefoav
AT, emelbfic exdpvapev capxAéstiv T0 oxlTiv., “ETds o dvtpag
uov dpne¢ev va mapatnpd véfpesr xéxov aAroé va pervioxovpeyv,

0 ®elog pov fippev pag €va oxltiv oto Xéppoov Péouvr. H ved@tTepn
x8pn pov exfiatvvev oto onoAelov Twpd w0 evid efapfinxa va
ueivloxw oxltiy ¢’ fPpa Sovieirdy o' éva gdxTopn gpovatavidv, O
dvipag pow anopdaLoev xov €0cAzy va mdet atnyv Avotpailav, “Etol
%0 1968 evowpdoapev ofAAa Ta yapxid pac. Ev To petald cpddauey
xwg exovAtétouy €va paxallv 1('étor €xpeney v'axogacloct § va

xder oty AvotpaAlay fi va yopéoer <o paxallv, To 1970 eyopdoapev
10 payallv,

“Expexev va epyaotobucv oxAnpé tCal va puAdovpuey xdde xfvvav.
fMlov 70 1962 wg 7o 1970 o évipag pov covvfidilev va xnalvver otny
Efxpov xdde 6xvé xpbvie, ubvog Tov, tlal va malpver &épa. I'i'
autéy xotté€ pag v clxepey pidiia. Ex( télovg exfipapev piay

vrodfixny 1C'edaveiotfixapey ta uvxbloixa xov ouvyyevelg.

Metaif tov 1962 tlal 1970 elxa xéti piéAia xpupd T('€Para ot

prdvia yia Teg xomeAlofec oto Tayudpope(o.

H xpdtn pov SovAeié fitav @¢lvioia o' éva 9éxtopn pe Kuxpalovc.
“Expexev va pdyovpar xdww otnv oBepAéna, aArd ev elxa xelpav,

£xoL expétnoa yie éva pfiva pévo. ‘Yotepa exfla o' éva géxtopn

nov cpdonav Tofvieg.

BSofhcda tliaxapé Sxvé egrouddec. Ev filepa va SovAéguw te¢ pnyavég
0 €vor comudEav pe. Téte Exapva sCal Alov oubépwpav gToug x0&6-
yupovg ¢'éve pdxtopn Tovg Efpalovc mov epdyxadiv govotévia yia

vépovg,

BsofAeda tlrayapf yia tperg pfivec. O spbxoc mov €pade tlal edof-
Azgxa tec pnyavéc fitav xov Toug ouyyevelg. Miav nuépav évag xov
Tovg ovyyevele pov fiptey 4L epdtnoev pe va xdw otoug Y&Woug TOV.
Epdtnoev pe fivra Sovieidy néuvw. "“Eto, tlelvo toftov" elxa Tou.
"To xpwlv oLéepéve moboybpoug, aArd 8€iw va udfw va SovAfexw Tnv
unxaviive,

"Ev va ce ndpw pall pov ownv SovAciév pov, Na xddcoar &(xAa wow

tC"'ev va cov Seffw,” elxev pov, "sC'é€tor Tl eylvnuev.

A, 6tav yia xpdtnv gopdv fiota atnv AyyAlay, fifpa tnv yAdooav
xoAM S6oxoAnv. EbofAcgna pe Kuxpalove Tov mapanévw tlaipbdv, £tor
ev elxe tlar tnv avéywnv va pédw EyyAélixa, Mévo ta tedsviala
béxa xpdvia xov exatégepa ve uddw va EyyA£Cuixa. Ebofregxa o' éva
pdxtopn p'EyyAélovg tC&l Ivriavolbdeg, €v0r €xiava T{L €Yéd Teg
MEewg T{"expoonabolon va Pxdiw vénua mov tobviec AfEerg 7L°

expnoLpoxofovy Teg Y& va ovvevveoluas.

GwW
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| came here in 1948. In Cyprus | was a policeman and |
went to the American Academy so | knew how to speak
English. | came with my brother Mustafa but my wife
stayed behind at first. We had a cousin who lived in
Berwick Street in Soho.

In those days you had to come by invitation, so our
cousins sent us an official invitation vouching for us. We
had no trouble getting into England. As long as you had an
invitation you were all right. It was after the war but there
was still rationing. When you had visitors, obviously the
household got more coupons. We didn’t eat bacon, so we
used to save our coupons and get more butter and other
meats. Only liver, and kidneys, and | think mincemeat,
wasn't rationed. All other meats were.

As | said, | could speak English so | had no difficulty in
talking to other people, and soon | found a job, | did a bit
of carpentry in Cyprus so | worked as a carpenter for a
time, | used to get six pounds a week. Then | did lots of
different jobs in the factories. It didn’t bother me, to do
something like manual work. | was educated, but when
you come to this country you have to do what you can
find. | couldn’t be a policeman here. So | had to do
something else.

We eventually opened a shop called Ankara, on Essex
Road, where Kervan Hotel is now. It was winter and
heating was very difficult. It took us a long time to register
with the Council for coal. The coalman wouldn’t deliver
any coal if you weren't registered. The fireplaces were very
big and we tried burning bits of wood but the whole thing
used to flare up and die down very quickly, so we used to
go to bed early. Not having a television there was very little
else to do. Anyway, it was the best place to keep warm.

Working in the shop was more difficult in those days.
We had to do door-to-door deliveries; people used to ring
us up and ask us to deliver. Only sometimes they'd go out,
and | would be left with the groceries. As it was part of the
service | couldn’t charge them for the petrol.

My wife and | always spoke English in the shop. It was
always ““Pass the whatever it was Sir or Madam’’ "’Please
and thank you!” There was no Cypriot food here in those
days, most of the food was what we could buy here. Later
on, when my wife learned to drive, she sometimes drove
to Turkey and Cyprus and brought back some cheese and
other bits and pieces, to sell at the shop.

Lots of things happened which, looking back, are
funny.

Where we lived, all the houses looked the same. A
friend | knew from Cyprus lived near us. Although he knew
approximately the address of his place he used to leave his
milk bottles outside the door as markers, so that when he
came back he could find the house without difficulty. One
day he left as usual to go to work with the milk bottles
outside but when he came back he couldn’t see the house
with any milk bottles. The poor man, he couldn’t find his
house and was wandering around the street. Fortunately,
he saw another friend who showed him to his house.

Another memory | have is during the coronation of
the Queen in 1952. We didn‘t have a television, so we
agreed to go to a relative in Bermondsey to watch it on
their television. When we walked into the room where the
television was, the room was full of mirrors. He placed
mirrors in all angles facing the TV so he could watch it
from anywhere in the room. I've just remembered that, |
just looked at the mirror and saw the television.

There wasn’t many of us in those days but, what
there was formed a club.

We have been quite contented here, our children have
grown up and lead their own lives here. We are now retired
and are fortunate enough to divide our time between here
and Cyprus.

TW

My daughter developed a lump on her back from an
early age so when we could afford it my husband and my
daughter came to England, to have my daughter see a
specialist. This was in 1960. In Cyprus we lived in a small
village near Karpaz which is, if you look at the map of
Cyprus, the finger part.

He was a shepherd, and while he was away | looked
after the sheep.

We were poor really, we sold the flock and he and my
daughter left for England. | and the rest of the children
came two years later. He worked and sent us money for
the ticket. We left from Limassol and travelled to Italy and
then to France. It was May or June but we still felt cold.
We had to share the bunks in the boat and the train. On
the ferry across the Channel, they wouldn’t let us into the
boat. We had to stay out on the deck for hours until we
came to Dover. My son was eleven months and | had to
hug him and cover him all the way. | thought we wouldn't
make the journey.

The biggest problem we ever had in this country has
been housing. We lived in one room and rented ac-
commodation for nine years.

My husband lived in Stoke Newington and we all had
to live in this one room in a house owned by a Turk, who
had another eight families living in the same house. We
had to queue up for everything from the toilet to cooking
on the same cooker. Five of us in one room, l'll never
forget that. We had a small house in Cyprus but at least we
had the fields to walk or run about in. We slowly started to
work, machining.

Eventually we saved enough money to buy a house
and my daughter went to see an Estate Agent just a few
doors from us. He saw us living in one room and thought
we had no money. When my daughter asked him to show
us some houses he wouldn’t, he said he didn’t want us to
waste his time. As God is my witness he refused to help us
buy a house, he thought we were too poor to pay for one.

My life in this country has been all right. 1've looked
after my children, | didn’t go out much. Now | look after
my grandchildren while my daughters work. One of the
rooms in the house we turned into a workroom and my
daughters machine in there. My husband died two years
ago from cancer of the bladder. He suffered for nine
months. it was a relief and a mercy when he died. While
we were looking after him we all died within every day
seeing him suffering in pain.

I will live with my daughters as long as they’ll have
me. | don’t have many needs, Cok Sukur (Thank God).



"KRALICENIN TAC GIYISINI
AYNADAN IZLEDIK"

Buraya 1948'de geldim, Kibristayken polistim, edtimimi Amerikan
ekademisinde qordiigiim icin Ingilizce biliyordum.

Erkek kardesimle birlikte &nce biz geldik daha sonrada esimi getir-
ttim. Soho'da Berwick caddesinde yasayan bir yedenimle kalirdik.

0 ginlerde bir davetiyle ile gelebiliyordunuz Ingiltereye calismak
icin. Davetiyeyi bize yedenim yolamisti1.Girisimizde hicbir sorun
oimad1. Hemen savas sonrasina rastlayan gelisimizde bazi temel yiyecek
maddeleri kuponla satiliyordu, eder evsahibinin misafiri varsa daha
fazla kuponlara ihtiyacy vardy yiyecek maddelarini sadlamak icin,

Daha ©nce sdyledigim gibi Ingilizce biliyordum bu necenle is bulmam
zor olmadyr, zaten o zamanlar is cok bodu. Kibrista biraz marangozluk
yapmistim, bu deneyimimden faydanalarak bir marangozun yaninda
calistm, bir sire icin.

Haftada alty pound alirdim, daha sonra bircok is yaptim,

Aslinda bakilirsa editimli bir kisi olarak bu tirlil isleri yapmak
beni pek rahatsiz etmiyordu, sartlar ne bulursaniz onu yapmaya
zorluyordu bir bakima insami.

8ir slire sonra Ankara isminde bir dikkan actim. simdi Kervan otelin
oldugu yerde. Kist1 ve 1sinmak bir sorundu, Belediye ile kbmir almak
icin kaydolmamiz oldukca zaman almisti, eder kayitly

dedirliseniz komlr tasiyanlarin evinize kimir ulastirmasy mimkin dedgildi
simineler cok biiyliktl,tahta yakmayy deniyorduk daha ucuzdu clnki,kasa
-lar1 kirp yakiyorduk fakat tahtalar cabuk yamiyordu, ve cok 1sitmiyo
rdu, Bu nedenle erken yatiyorduk, televizyonumuzyoktu aslinda yapacak
pek fazla birsey yoktu.

0 glnlerde diikkanda calismak cok zordu, kapidan kapiya servisyapmamiz
gerekiyordu, misteriler siparislerini telefonla veriyoriardi, bizde
isi gelistirmek icin benzin paras) dahi hesaba katmadan servisi
sirdiiriyorduk. Esim ve ben diilkkanda hep Ingilizce konusyorduk.

"Bey yada bayan, sunu ver litfen ve tesekkir ederim gibi ." sdzleri
daimi kulanmirdik. O ginlerde Kibris yiyecekleri Londrada bulunmuyordu,
daha sonralary esiminde ehliyet almasiyla, Kibrisa yada Tirkiyeye
yaptidmiz seyhatleri dioniiste getirdigmiz yiyiecekleri dikkanda satmaya
basladik.Geriye doniip baktigimda olup biten bircok komik seyler
ammsiyorum. Kibristan yeni gelen bir arkadas evenin adresini bilm
esine rajmen evini bulmakta giiclik cekiyordu evlerinin biribirlerine
cok benzemesi nedeniyle. St siselerini kullaniyordu evi belirlemek
icin. Bir gln eve beri geldiginde, daha do§rusu evenin oldugu sokaga
geri geldidinde kapinin Gniinde brakt1§y sisieleri gdremegince, zavally
adam bir tirlU evini bulamamisti, neyseki ordan gecen birbaska arkadas

imdadina yetismisti ve ona evini giostermisti.

Birbaska animda, kralicenin tac giymesiyle ilgili.Styledigim gibi
televizyonumuz yoktu, Bermondsey 'de oturan bir akrabamin evine

o dnemli tireni seyretmek icin sdzlesmistik,

Iceri girdidimizde odanin duvarlari aynalaria cevrili oldudunu

gbrdik, odanin neresine oturursamiz oturun televizyondaki gdriintiniin
yansimasi mutlaka bir aynadan g8ziikliyordu,televizyonun arkasindan
oturmama ragmen o gece kralicenin tac giymesini aynadan seyretimistir.
0 zamanlar cok Kibrisli youktu kakat buna radgmen bir kliblmiz vards,
kendimizi burda rahat hissediyoruz, cocuklarimiz burda dodup, burda
blyudu.

Simdi emekli olduk, dinyali8imizy Kibristada burdada bize yetecek
kadar cok slkur olsun.

KIBRISLI TORK KADIN

Erken yaslarinda sirtinda beliren kamburun tedavisi icin kocam ve
k1z1m Ingiltereye geldiler,1960 yi1larinda.

Kibrista kiicik bir kdyde yasiyorduk, Karpaz yakinlarinda.

Ejer haritaya bakarsaniz parmada benzeyen uzantisindadir kdylmiz

bu sevimli Akdeniz adasimin.

Kocam koyun cobaniydi, 0 gittikten sonra koyunlary ben giittim.
Gercekten fakirdik, davarlarimizi sattik, kizim ve kocam Ingiltereye
gitmesi icin. Ben ve geri kalan diger cocuklawmiz iki y11 sonra geldik
Kocam calisarak kazandi4y paradan biriktirdiklerini bize bilet almamiz
icin gbnderdi. Leymosundan yola ciktik, Gnce Italyaya sonrada Fransay
udr adik. Mayis yada Hazirand: fakat hala sojuktu. Vapurdaki,

trendeki kabinleri paylasarak durumundaydik. Arabali vapurla Mans'y
gecerken bizi vapurun ic kismina almadilar, gilvertede acikta seyhat
ettik Dover's gelinceye kadar. 0§lum 0 zamanhenizonbir ayliktsi,
kucadimda battaniyelerle sarip sarmalyip tasidim yol boyunca.

Bu yolculuk hicbitmeyecekmis gibi geldi. Bu Olkedeki en biyiik sorunumuz
PEv™ Hdi:

Dokuz y11 boyunca bir oda icinde yasadik. Geldimizde kocam Stoke
Newingtonda bir oda da kaliyordu, bu nedenle bizde 0 odaya yeryestik.
Ev bir TirkindU ve ayny evde dort aile daha yasiyordu.Tuvaletten
mutfagin kullanimina kadar her sey icin kuyruga girmemiz gerekiyordu.
Hig unutumum, besimizde ayni odadaydik. Kibristaki evimide kiiciktu

ama en azdan ylrlyecek, kosacak arazimiz vaddi. Yavas yavas calismaya
basladik makinayarda. Zamanla bir ev alabilecek kadar para biriktirdik,
k1zim,bir ka¢ kapi yanimizdaki emlakciye gitti, Emlakecy bizim yasadigmz
yeri goriince yeterli paramiz olmadi14n1 diisunmiis olacakty,krzim,bize
birkac ev géstermesini istediginde bizimle ilgilenmedi bile.

Bu UOlkedeki yasamim fyi gecti, cok fazla gezmedim, disariya cikmadim
biiyittim. Simdide torunlarima bakiyorum kizlarim islerken

Evin bir odasiny islik yaptik, kizlarim orda calisiyorlar.

Kocam sidik kesesi kanserinden ki yi11 Once vefat etti,dokuz ay

cekti zavalr.

Ulim ona bir kurtulustu.

Simdi kizlarimla birlikte yasiyorum, onlar beni terketmedikce

beraber yasiyacagiz insallah.

Cok sikiir cok fazla birseye ihtiyacim yok.
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In Cyprus we lived in a village called Karli Dag (Mount
Snow). When | was one, my father died. My grandparents
took me in while my Mother moved to the city of Nicosia
to live. | lived with my grandparents till | was ten. Then my
Mother came and took me with her to Nicosia. | lived with
her until | was married at the age of twenty-seven.

From the beginning | have had a lot of problems with
my marriage, for both personal and economic reasons. We
decided to break up. He asked me what | planned to do, |
told him | wouldn‘t stay in Cyprus. | said | would either go
to Turkey or England. He thought about it for 10 days and
then said to me that he did’t want a divorce. We decided
to stay together and to save up to come to England. We
saved what we could and then went to see a man called
Behzat. He told us that he would fix our Passports and we
needn’t worry about anything. He had men who worked
for him in England and they would meet us at the train
station, when we got to England and find us somewhere to
live and work. We believed him.

We left Cyprus by boat to Italy and then by train to
France and from there by ferry to England. We arrived in
London. At the train station we waited and waited and
waited. Everybody left. There was only us and another
man left standing at the train station. We couldn’t speak
English. We could do nothing. Eventually someone came
to pick the other man up. My husband heard them speak
Turkish so he went up to ask for help from this man.

There was only one thing he could do for us and that
was to take us to the Turkish Club at the West End. He
was sure these compatriots could help us to find
somewhere to stay.

The taxi dropped us off at the Turkish Club. We went
in and he introduced us and asked the men there to help us
find somewhere to stay. We told them of our cir-
cumstances and how we had been cheated and lied to.
They didn’t help us one little bit and they were supposed to
be Muslims and Turks too.

We sat there. What could we do? Nothing!

When the man, who took us to the Turkish Club got
home, God knows he must have thought about us, and
instead of going to work that night, he came back to the
club to see what had happened to us.

He asked us if anybody at the club had helped us and
how much money we had on us in English currency. We
said that no one had helped us and that my husband only
had a pound in English money. He then asked if we knew
anyone at all in London. My husband said he had an
address of a couple of old friends of his. The man called
another taxi and took us to the address.

The landlord of the house, another Turkish Cypriot,
opened the door. The man told him about us and that our
friends lived at this address. The landlord said he would go
and tell them. My husband’s so-called friends said that
they didn’t know anyone of that name.

My husband said, “How could they not know me?
We've been friends for years. They even wrote and asked
me to look them up when | arrived here . . . and now they
say they don’t know me?"’

The landlord felt sorry for us, he said he could perhaps
help us, but he really didn’t have any room. He said he
would have to ask the other tenants, who were mainly
young Turkish Cypriots, if they could double up and
vacate one room for us. They did and the landlord showed
us to the room.

They say people differ and it’s true. The next day we

slept till about ten. | was very cold that night. It was the
middle of October.

We got up, dressed and sat around afraid to go out of
the room in case the landlord asked us to leave.

At about eleven o’clock there was a knock on the
door. My husband went and opened the door. There stood
his two friends who had previously denied they knew him.
My husband asked what had happened to them last night.
They said that they thought the landlord was lying to
them, playing a trick. ““Could it be, because you were
afraid that we might come face to face you decided to
come and see us. Was it to save yourselves any em-
barrassment?’’ my husband asked. They said ‘“We just
didn’t believe the landlord. Now we’ve come to take you
out.”

They took us to Aldgate Market. We walked to the
bus stop. The bus came and | tried to get on it. Before |
could sit down, it moved. | nearly went flat on to my face |
felt so embarrassed.

Worse was to come. We went to the Underground, |
was scared stiff of the escalators. I’d never seen one
before, | thought it was going to chew my foot up.
Eventually | got used to it. We walked round the market. It
was pretty cold and | wasn’t feeling well and on top of
everything we hadn’t eaten. My husband said he was
starving. His friends sent me back home to cook while the
men went to a Turkish cafe at the Angel. There my
husband asked if anyone knew of a place we could stay for
that night. Nobody did. Finally, one man said he did have a
room but it was in a very bad state. There was no covering
on the floors and the bed mattress had its springs sticking
out of it.

The man took us to this room which became our new
home. It was one room and we had to share a toilet,
bathroom and the kitchen with four other families.




KIBRISLI TORK AILE

Kibrista, Karly dad diye bilinen bir kiyde yasardik.

Ben bir yasindayken babam $1di,annemin yasamini slirdirecedi
Lefxosaya tasinmasiyla beni dedemler yanina, ald:,

On yasina kadar dedmlerle yasadim. Daha sonra annem beni
yanina Lefkosaya aldy. Yirmiyedi yasina, yani evleninceye
kadar annemle birlikte yasadim. Evliligimin basindan beri
esimie birgok sorunlarmiz oldu. Bu isi bitirmeye karar

verdik. Bana herhangi bir planim olup olmadi§im sordu,
Xibrista kalmaya niyetim olmadigimy Tirkiyeye yada Ingiltereye
gitmek istedigmi styledim. On gin kadar benden zaman istedi,
daha ayrintil1 disinmek icin. Verdidi karar "Bosunmamakti"
tekrar birlikte olmaya karar verdik.

8irliktirdidimiz parsyla Behzat isminde bir adama gittik.
Pasaport isimizi halledecedini, merak etmememizi, kendisi

igin ¢alisan adamlar: olduunu tren istasyanunda bizi
karsilayacaklarinmi ve bizi bir eve yerlestirecklerini sdyledi.
Bi2de ona inandik.

Kibristan gemiyle ayrildik, Italyays ordan Fransaya, Fransadan
da arabalr vapurla Ingilterye geldik. Londraya geldik. Londra
-ya geldimizde, tren istasiyanunda bizi karsilayacak onlar
girebilmek Umidiyle bekledik, bekledik, bekledik. Herkes git-
misti, istasyonda biz ve bir baska adamdan baska ayakta
bekleyen basks kimse kalmadi. Biraz sonra o adami almak icin
birileri geldi. Kocam aralarinda konustuklarinin Tiirkce oldu-
Gunu duymustu, yanlarina gidip yardwm istedi. Bizim i¢in
yapabilecedi yalimiz birtek sey vardir, bizi West End'de bir
Turk kulubune gtitirmek. Ordaki Tirk hemserilerin, kalacak

bir yer bulmak icin bize yardim edeceklerine emindi.

Taksi, bizi Tirk klubUniin dniinde birakti, iceri girdik,bizi
digerleriyle tamistirdy ve ordakilerden bize kalacak bir yer

bulmakta yardim etmelerini istedi. Onlara durumumuzu, nasil

kandirldidmizy anlattik. Bize biraz olsun dahi yardim etmediler.

Dinkardes| ve Soydas olacaklardy giya.

Orada oturduk kaldik, ne yapabilirdik, Hicbisey!

Bizi Turk kliubline getiren adam evine gitmisti. Allah bilir
bizi disiinmiis olacak'ki ise gidecedine klibe geri geldi ve ne
olup bittigini, kimsenin bize yardim edip etmedifiini sordu.
"timsenin bize yarim etmedigini“sdyledik.

Londurada tamididimiz kimse olup olmadiginy sordu.

Esimin eski arkadaslarindan birkag¢inin adresini verdik,adam

bir taksi cadirds ve bu adreslere dofAru yola ciktik.

Kibrisly bir tirk olan evin sahibi kapiyr acty. Bizi orya

getiren kisi durumumuzdan bahsetti ve o adreste tamidiklarimiz
oldujunu siyledi. Ev sahibi igerdekilere bizden bahsedince

onlardan bu isimde kimseyi tamimadiklar: yanaty geldi.

Esim, “"Nasil olur,beni tamimazlar. Bi1z yi1llardan beri arkadasiz,
bana yazip, buraya geldijimde kendileriyle girismemi istediler.
$imdi de bana beni tanimadiklarinin sdyllyorlar"dedi.

Ev sahbi bize acidyr, bize yardimcy olabilecedini styledi,ama hig
bos odasy yoktu. Dider kiracilara,(Kibrisly Tirk olanlara) sorup
bizim i¢in bir sey ayarlayabilecedini sdyledi. Kiracilar bir odayr
bosalttilar ve ev sahibi bize odamizy gisterdi. Insanlar farklidir
deriler, Dofrumus.

Ertesi giin, sabah on'a kadar uyuduk, geceleyin ¢ok UsUmUstium, Ekim
ortasiydr, uyandik, giyindik biraz oturduk, ne yapacajimizi bilmi-
yorduk, ev sahibi bizi disary atmasin diye kapidan disarya cikmayr
korkardik. Birazdan kapi calindi. kapiyr esim actidinda karsimizda
esimin arkadaslariny gdordiik,bu durum karsisinda sasirmistik, kocam
"Din alsam nerdeydiniz?" diye sordu. Onlarda evsahibinin yalan
sbyledigini zannettiklerini sdyledi. Esim,"yoksa bizi rasgele gor-
mekten ve utanacadiniz icinmi bizi simndi gormeye geldiniz® diye
sozlerine devam etti. "Yok canim ne minasebet, biz dedidmiz gibi
ey sahibinin bizimle saka ettigini sand1k" olarak kocama cevap
verdiler.Kocamda uzatmadi. Daha sonra hepbirlikte Aldgate Market'a
gittik. Otobiuse bindik, binerken otobiis harket etti, dengemi
kaybettim az kalsin yUz UstlU yere vuruyordum, cok utanmistim, daha
sonra sira undergrounda harket eden basamaklara binmeye geldi,
aliskin olmadidim icin onlardan cok korkmustum. Yavas yavas arkadas
-lar alistirtilar beni, ve gelecedmiz yere geldik sonunda.

Karnimiz acikmisty, arkadaslarimizin esleriyle ben onlarin evine
gittim, Kocami da onlarin beyleri Angel'daki bir Tirk kahvesine
gotirdiler. Kocam bu kahvede bundan sonrasi icin kalacak bir yer
bulmak Umidiyle herkese sorup derimizi anlatmisti, aralarindan biri
cok kdti sartlarda bir odasinin oldulunu, yaylary bozuk bir yataktan
baska bir sey olmadiginmy sdylemis, bu caresizlikler iginde yerde
yatmak sorun dedildi asTinda bizim icin o giinlerde. Yeni odamiza
yerlestikden sonra yeni evsahibimiz bize {5 buldu ve calismaya
basladik. Calismak, is zorgelmiyordu. Dil baslibasina bir probliemdi.
Kac geceyi bu ylzden aglayarak gecirtim.Ev sahibimin kizkardesi cok
iyf ve yardimsever biriydi bana iste dilden cok yardimda bulundu ama
o olamyinca onun baska bir arkadasi vardi o kocama sempatisi vard:
ve benden hoslanmazdy,

Bir giin calisitidwm yerde, ydnetici olan kadin beldi omuzumu
oksayarak birseyler styledi, tabiiki ben Ingilizce bilmedidim icin
birsey anlamamisim, biraz Bnce bahsettigim kocama e3dilim olan bu
kadina sordum ne dedigini ydnetcinin, o da benim isime son
verildidini orda bana artik is olmadiginy sByledi. Oziintiyle eve
dondim, bu hakimei gdren evsahibi“Ne oldu sana " diye sordu,durumu
anlattim, cok sasirdy halbuki birkac giin dnce ydnetici ile konusmus
ve benden olumlu bahsetmislerdi, ne olup bittigini ortaya ¢ikarcagina
sdz verdi. Bir hafta sonra bana gelip durumu anlatty aslinda onlar
hicte Syle dejimis, mederse ydnetici kadin benden cok memnun oldujunu
cok 1yi calistifim sdyliyormus, olay yaliniz bir yanlis anlamdan
dteye gitmeyen basit bir seymis yani. Neyse bu arads ben esimin
calistidr yerde is bulmustum, ben bes pound, esimse alti pound
kazaniyorduk, o zamanlar haftaliklar boyleydi. En blylik sorun dil ve
soduk tu benim icin, baz1 zamanlar olduki Kibrisa geri dénmek icin
neler vermezdim diye disindim hep.

1956'da, Kibrisa tatile bittim biraz olsun kendime gelmek icin.

Geri dondimde evsahibiyle olan iliskimizin eskisi gibi olmadijiny
farkettim, eski camlar bardak olmustu, tasiz olaya sebeb olan sorun,
mutfaktaki gaz sayacinin kullanalar tarafindan kurcanlanarak bozulmasi
ve bundan sorumlu tutulanin biz olmasiydv.Bir mutfagy sekizaile kulla
mrdy. 11k cocufum icin hamile kalmamla evsahibi baska ¢ikilmaz,bir
kisi oluvermisti, kac aylik hamile oldudumu, doduma ne kadar kaldigimi
her firsatta soruyordu, niyeti apacik ortadaydi,bizi evden atmak
istiyordu, bunu anlamak giic olmady ve bizde ev aramaya basladik fakat
cocuklu aileler fcin kiralik ev bulmak bilyiik bir sorundu bu Ulkede,
olaylar bdyle belisirken kocamin arkadaslarindan birsi ona ev satin
almami2z1 tavsiye etmis, onunda akl1 bu ise yatmisty.

Dokuzyliz pound'a uzun slireli kiralik bir ev bulduk, biriktirdigimiz
ikiylUz pound depozit olarak gitti, evi satan kisi bu arada bize aylik
taksitleri ramaninda tamamlarsak geri kalan iki yUz poundluk farkida
ekleyip evi temelden bize satabilecejini sdyledi, Allah yUzimizi kara
¢ikarmadi, taksitlerimizi ve diger fkiyiiz poundu Gdedik ve bir ev
sahibi olduk.
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This man found me work in the same week, in a dress
factory as a machinist. Eventually he found my husband
work too.

The work wasn’t difficult, but not understanding
English was. I've spent lots of sleepless nights crying
because of the language barrier.

This particular time | had some of the women at the
factory translate for me. My landlord’s sister was very
helpful, but she had a friend who wasn’t so helpful. She
took a shine to my husband and started to dislike me.
Before that week was out, the manageress came and
tapped me on the shoulder and said something. | asked
this woman, who disliked me ““What did she say?"’ She
replied, “The woman said that there is no work for you.
She wants you to stop working.” | was angry “If that's
what she wants, then I’ll stop” | said, and left.

When the landlord saw me at home, and not at work,
he asked me what had happened, | told him. He said he
was only talking to the owner the other day, and he was
very pleased with my work. He promised to find out what
had happened. A week later he told me that the
manageress was saying what good work | was doing, not
that there was no work. He said “The woman who
translated for you says she misunderstood the
manageress. They'd like you to go back”. By that time |
had found work where my husband was working in
another dress factory, so | didnt go back. | was getting
five pounds and my husband was getting six pounds. The
wages were like that in those days.

The biggest problem for me was always the language
and the cold. There were times when | wished | could go
back to Cyprus, but going back was like admitting failure

16

of myself and my marriage. | did go back 1956 for a holiday
and to get myself together again.

When | came back our relationship with our landlord
was never the same. We used to have disagreements over
the use of the kitchen.

He used to get twelve shillings in total from the four
families to cover the gas bill. Of course, some used to use
too much and others too little. It always worked out that
the damn thing used to finish half way through my meal
and | used to be the one who had to ask him to put more
money in the meter, and he didn’t like that.

It was difficult to keep the kitchen clean because
people used to take advantage and it used to end up that
no one used to do it, expecting someone else to do the
cleaning for them. It was at this time that | became
pregnant and the landlord became more and more difficult
and inquisitive. He used to ask my husband how many
weeks | was and when the child was due. It became clear
to us why he was asking. He wanted to evict us when the
child was born. We asked around to find another place but
all our friends said that it was the rule in this country that
lots of places didn’t have tenants with children. So we had
no alternative but to find another solution to our problem.
One day my husband’s friend suggested we bought a
place. He took us to an Estate Agent and we found a place
for nine hundred pounds leasehold.

We saved two hundred pounds and that went on the
deposit. The man told us that if we can complete
payments in time, he can then offer us the Freehold for
another two hundred pounds on top. This we did and
eventually bought the Freehold. Tw




ITALY

| came from a very big family; we were in all five
brothers and three sisters; | was the one before the last.
We came from a small village not far from Piacenza in the
northern part of Italy, and my parents were farmers. We
had to work really hard and were very poor, but on the
other hand we used to know everybody in the village and
lead a very communal sort of life. Somehow, in the midst
of so many problems, there seemed to be room for
everybody. Anyway, two of my sisters emigrated to
London and opened a workman'’s cafe for the workers in
Covent Garden Market. In 1962, they were left alone and
without any help, and | had to come here to help them. |
wasn't sure at the beginning that | would remain in
England. Slowly | started realizing it, rather than deciding
it, while | was also getting more accustomed to England.

As soon as | came to London | went to live with my
two sisters, and | always lived with them, until they died, |
never married, and now | am left alone. | never had any
problems with my papers, because having to help my
sisters in the cafe, | got a working permit very easily. So
the beginning was difficult, but in no way terrible. | learned
English little by little, by myself, using a book and talking
every day to the people in the café. At the beginning | was
sick with nostalgia, and in a way | feel like that even now,
but | think it is the same for everybody, and that it is not
possible to leave one’s own country and get completely
accustomed to somewhere else.

When | arrived, my sisters used to open the cafe at
half-past seven in the morning, but, being a man, | was
able to start earlier, so | opened at half past five and
worked non-stop until seven in the evening. At nine
0'clock | would be ready for bed. Luckily the house where |
used to live, and where | still am, was very close, but
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working so hard | didn’t have time for anything, and all my
life was spent in the cafe. With many of my clients | had
established an almost brotherly relationship, seeing each
other every day and working in such close contact.

It is true that it was a very heavy job, but now that |
am retired and my sisters are dead, | miss it dreadfully.
Now | find it very hard to fill my days, | read the paper for a
while. Then | go out, | sit in the park, look at the other
elders and think, | am like them now.Yes, if | could | would
really like to change. In Italy, in a small village, everybody
is very close to each other, even if they belong to different
generations. We have a stronger feeling not only for
family, but for our friends too! Here they send children
away from home at seven years of age. How can they
grow attached to their parents, or establish strong
friendships?0On the other hand, | must say | have been very
content here.

The first thing that really impressed me about England
was the sight of people queuing, queuing for everything!
And how tidy it all was! Now | have grown accustomed to
all this, and | think it could never exist in Italy; | have not
been there now for seventeen years, and | miss it
dreadfully: though if | have to say what exactly | do miss, |
could not answer. | have no idea how | would find it now,
and if it is at all changed. It must be, mustn’t it? My
nephews are very nice to me, thank God. They write to me
and sometimes they even come up here to see me; | feel
really at ease with them, | think we are very much alike.

If | have to be really honest, | must admit that if | had
known what my life was eventually going to be like over
here, no, | don’t think | would have come. But un-
fortunately for me it was never a matter of choice, but
simply a must: | had my sisters and | had to help them.
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THE FAR EAST

| was born in Hong Kong in 1922. | was the only child
in the family. | grew up in the New Territories. | was
married in 1940. In 41, Japan invaded Hong Kong. At that
time my father worked in Canada but he did not send any
money home. There was nothing to eat, not even sweet
potatoes, and my mother was starved to death. The
Japanese very much liked lettuce, so | and my husband
often collected the vegetables in the field and carried them
to Fanling to the Japanese in exchange for army tokens.
The belt linking the bamboo stick and the basket was so
worn out by the load that it eventually broke. We lived
beside the road then.
In 1941 a lot of people escaped from the mainland to Hong
Kong. They had nothing to eat, not even water to drink.
My father-in-law was a Christian. That year the rice crop
pool he belonged to had made a profit of a few hundred
catties of crops. So he made some congee, set up a stall
beside the road and gave the congee to the refugees.

Peace came in 1946. | was really happy. In 1948, my
eldest son was born. My husband was a van driver in Hong
Kong then. Life was difficult so he applied to come to
Britain in 1960, because he had a lot of relatives here. He
came by ship, the journey taking more than a month. He
told me the sea was rough during the journey. Many
people were so sick that they could not eat anything. Just
before he left for England, | gave birth to my youngest son.

In 1970, | and my youngest son also applied to come
to Britain. The day when | arrived, my husband came to
meet me. It was Spring then but snow was falling heavily.
It was very cold. | had no English and three days after |
arrived, | found a job in a restaurant named Nan Wah Lau,
where my husband once worked. There were very few
Chinese here during that time and it was difficult to find
someone to talk to. My husband made a living by picking
bean sprouts for others on his arrival. Later he became a
chef in a restaurant. He was in an even more difficult
situation than | was when | first arrived. | was very glad for
our family reunion but the job was really tiring. | worked till
midnight everyday. But | never regretted it. | had my work
and | could make a living. That’s enough.

When | first arrived, | rented a room at Stoke
Newington, where the whole family lived together. Later

we felt the room too small for us. Through a friend’s help
we rented a flat in Angel whose landlord was a Biritish. |
got to know the friend who helped us find the flat when |
worked at Nan Wah Lau.

| didn’t have any English. | was totally in the dark, but
| managed to carry on. My youngest son entered a primary
school on arrival. He was very afraid of the blacks around
the neighbourhood so he always went to Nan Wah Lau for
me after school (Nan Wah Lau was near Piccadilly, now it
is called May Dao) and waited for me to go home together
after work. Once when we were on our way home, we
were stopped and asked by a policeman why | took a child
to the street so lag: at night. | wished to tell him my son
was afraid of blacks, that he wished to have me by his
side, that | was taking him home to sleep. But | had no
knowledge of English, | could only mutter “solly, solly”
(sorry, sorry).

My husband was in bad health. He often had to stay
in hospital. Because of this, | had to work to make ends
meet. After | arrived in England for a week, he had again
gone to a hospital. Life then was really difficult.

In 1975, my husband died and we were evicted from
our flat. | lost my husband, and | had no English. Suddenly
| felt life was very miserable. Before that, though my work
was hard, | had never felt that miserable. | had to prepare
my husband’s funeral. An Englishman talked about
cremation or what. | didn’t understand a word of his. | only
kept nodding. He told me to select a coffin for my husband
and | picked one at £5600. He told me it needed not be too
expensive and picked a £300 one for me instead.

At that time, there was an Englishman who was kind
and eager to help me. But | didn’t understand English and
could only mutter ““I don’t know”” to whatever he said to
me. He helped me to apply for widow's allowance. Then |
didn’t even know what a cheque was. | thought they were
useless bits of paper and just threw them away. He tried to
explain to me that these were money, but | didn’t un-
derstand a word. Now | know what a cheque is. Things
would be easier then if | had someone to translate for me.
That period was really difficult. My eldest son worked far
away in Holland. My youngest son knew nothing at all. |
had to decide everything. However | was satisfied merely
to be able to raise my son through all these hardships.
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Ch w

Q: How did you feel when you first arrived in Britain?

A: | did not feel very sad then. But | found difficulties in
adjusting myself to life over here. | felt very lonely and
empty.

Q: Were your children in close contact with you then?

A: Yes, by the time | came to Britain, my whole family was
over here. | really rejoiced in this family re-union.

Q: So why did you say you felt lonely and empty?

Q: Can you tell me something about your life in your home
country?

A: Our house was in a street in a small rural town. | livedin
a small rural town, not in a village. people living in the
villages usually worked on lands and they lived in
huts. | was a hawker then.

Q: Did you ever think of returning to your country?

A: | still got an elder brother in Mainland China. Everybody
would like to go back but it needs money to do so.

A: Language was a problem for me. Although my family
was in Britain, some of us lived far apart. It was only
in occasional family gatherings that we saw each
other. | felt very happy when the whole family was
spending the time together. But | had no English and |
could not communicate with the British. Shopping
was not too great a problem for me, though. | just
picked what | liked, put them into the basket and paid
on my way out. You didn‘t need an interpreter. But as
| could not read the labels on the packets, there were
times when | dared not try something new. | could not
be sure if they were edible.

Q: Did you find other difficulties in life in Britain apart from
the language problem?

A: The food here is different. The tomato soup here is
crimson and has a creamy surface. When the soup
boils, the tomatoes sink to the bottom of the pot. It
may have something to do with the different growing
methods we use. We fertilize our crops with nightsoil.
The British can’t stand the bad smell and discard it.
They use chemicals instead. So the vegetables they
grow are not as good tasting as ours. We don't eat
foods that are out of season. We only eat what is
fresh from the market and we don’t freeze our food.

20 The food here is very different.

Q: Do you find it difficult to communicate with your
grandchildren?

A: They grow up here in Britain and therefore know little
Chinese. They cannot express themselves well in
Chinese nor can they write in Chinese.

ChM

Q: What was your impression of Britain when you first
arrived?

A: | felt very much out of place and | missed my home
country very much.

Q: Then why did you leave your home country?

A: | was a carpenter then. | worked very hard but the pay
was bad. Life was very hard in China.

Q: What made you decide to stay in Britain?

A: It's easier to make a living here and the living conditions
are better. At first | found it difficult to adjust myself
to life over here. But after a while | became used to it.
Britain is a free country and | enjoy freedom here. A
pound’s effort is a pound’s worth. If you work hard
enough, you can enjoy life. To me this is a kind of
freedom.
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| first came to England when my father passed away.
In Singapore we had a business as a tailor’s shop, but
when my father passed away, my brother and | sold it.
Then | worked in a solicitor’s office, helping my brother
who was a chief clerk. After a while, | got fed up and said,
“I'd like to go to sea and see the world.” It was just at the
beginning of the war and | was twenty-six years old. From
11th November 1939 | signed on as a steward on a Shell
petrol tanker and came to England.

| arrived in London on Christmas Eve, and | had never
known such cold weather. We did not have nearly enough
clothes. We were shivering coming ashore. They took us
to a boarding house. There were lots of seamen’s hotels
for Chinese in London;one in Pennyfields and one in West
India Dock Gate | remember, but they have all gone now.
We had a meal and we stayed there in Pennyfields. There
used to be a Chinese restaurant nearby, and Shell had a
contract with them for seamen’s meals. Every day we ate
there twice, in the morning and afternoon. Even if there
were no ships, you had to report in, in case you were
needed. We had signed on for three years and the
agreement was that | would be repatriated to Singapore.
When | left, my little boy was two years old and a girl was
just born. | brought summer clothes and winter clothes;
just one suitcase.

On 3rd January, | joined an oil tanker in Southamp-

ton. We sailed to Trinidad and then back to Liverpool
where we were paid off as the ship went into dry dock. |
stayed in Liverpool for a while and they put me in charge of
translation for Chinese seamen. | was doing the paperwork
for 4,000 Chinese seamen. When any ship came in and
they required sailors for the engine room or catering
department, | had to organise the men for them. | knew
where the sailors were staying, so I'd go to their boarding
houses and tell them to report to the office and see the
doctor. If they were not considered fit enough, I'd find
someone else. | travelled a lot at that time, taking the
whole crew sometimes, as they couldn’t speak a word of
English. Shell paid all the expenses.
Up to 1944, Shell had paid half my wages, and sent half to
Singapore. But then my wife and two children passed
away during a Japanese bombing raid on Singapore. After
the war, most of the Chinese seamen returned home, but |
did not. Singapore is a British colony and | was a British
subject. | brought by birth certificate with me. The other
sailors were not from Singapore, but from China and they
had to be repatriated.

| found a new wife in Liverpool and was married at St.
Anne’s Church on 24th June, 1944. After | got married
again, | was in touch with my family in Singapore, but at
the end of 1948 we lost touch. | lost their address and they
apparently stopped writing to me. Up to that point, my
brother had written once or twice a month asking how |
was keeping. One day | found the explanation. My second
wife had feared that, as they had suffered from the
bombing, my family in Singapore must keep asking for
money, so she tore up their letters without letting me
know. For the next thirty-eight years | had no contact with
my family. Later | found out that my brother had been
searching for me and my niece had come to England and
could not find me. They thought maybe | had been killed in
the bombing.
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This is how we resumed contact. After | had worked
for Shell for 35 years, | retired and took over a restaurant to
occupy my time. | had been working in the kitchens of the
London Shell Centre, often cooking Chinese food for the
directors there. The Sanitary Inspector came to my
restaurant and said | had to repaint everything. | said |
couldn’t do all this by myself, cooking as well, but he said |
must or he would not renew my licence. A seaman | knew
said he would get someone to come and paint it. One of
the men he sent along was my sister’s husband’s brother.
He had been asking everywhere but he could not find me.
At last he said, “’Do you know this name?”’ | said, “Yes, it
is my sister.” He said, “‘She wants to know how you are”’,
and went quickly to phone my niece and her husband,
who were living here in London with their two children. My
niece came straightaway to see me, and together we
telephoned her mother, my sister, and | was in touch with
her again after so long. She wanted me to go out to
Singapore with her daughter who was going soon. She
said, “We looked everywhere for you, but we could not
find you. Are you coming out to Singapore?” | did not go
then and shortly afterwards | heard from my niece that my
sister had passed away and would have liked to see me.
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Atlast, in 1977, | made up my mind to go over and see
the family. It had all changed. It was just like being a
stranger. All the houses where | had been before as a child
had all changed. It was all new flats, new roads and even
new names. They did ask me to stay, but | have been here
in Britain such a long time that | am used to the climate,
and over there it is very very warm. Sometimes it is 95°
which is why my wife would not like to go. She is English,
my third wife, and she cannot stand the heat. | am happy
to live here, and she looks after me very well. | met my wife
in the restaurant in 1976 and we were married in 1977.

In old Chinatown most English and Chinese people
know me very well, because | have watched them grow
up. When they see me on the street they say hello. They
call me Jimmy. Other Chinese people of my age don’t mix
with English people. My own generation, | only know
about six or seven people now. A lot of them have passed
away. When | came to London there were many more, but
some of them went back and some passed away.

We have got a Chinese club now where the old people
are always invited to go for Chinese New Year or any big
Chinese occasions to have tea and cakes and a big dinner.
And this year they have started carrying the dragon
through the streets in old Chinatown. If the younger
people ask me about the old customs | will talk about it.

Now | don’t work any more, as | like to go out. | have
my free bus pass and | like to look around everywhere. |
like to travel, see the shops and so on. My best time is
June, July and August. | go out, come back to eat and
then go out again. If they are busy in the cafe, | sometimes
help them out. They have been good friends to me in the
past.

| still see my niece and nephew; they often come to
see me. Their generation, when they come to London to
work, they like to go home after one or two years to see
their family. When they come to England and their children
are born here, they speak both languages. In school they
are taught English and at home they talk Chinese. That is
very important and how it should be. They are learning
Mandarin in a Chinese class too, so they know their own
culture.
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My grandmother was the manager for the white
people’s guest house. | lived with her from when | was
eight. The lodgers at the guest house used to take me to
school and bring me back. | was the only child there.
Then, at a certain age, my grandmother resigned and went
home. | got married and | started a business. | opened and
ran a bar and grocery while my husband was working on
the estate.

The estate was a huge place, a massive place where
all the rum and the sugar is being made. We lived in the
small town which served the estate. People came from
different parishes all over Jamaica to work there, and they
were my customers, especially on Friday nights.

When the owner of the estate died, it passed on to his
two sons. One had a brain like a calabash cup and he
couldn’t manage, so he had to get a book-keeper for this,
a manager for that, and he goes away all the time, all over
the place on holidays. So the management, these great
men with plenty of education, were grabbing everything.
Everything just melts out, and the business just run down
like that. Everybody stop working, say a hundred people
not working this month, and within another month they
are laying off a couple of hundred more. The tractor
department, where my husband worked, closed down as
well.

He thought, “Well, | can work with heavy machinery.
| can get work in England wth heavy machinery.” He was a
good mechanic. He could scrap down a tractor in pieces.
I've seen him. |’ve stayed all night with him, see him scrap
it and put it up on the ground there without any book,
because he couldn’t read the book, and that's how he
was. But when he came over here, he had to go to a
factory and work for £8, which was not even enough to
buy food.

| couldn’t convince him not to come. | didn’t want to
come at all. | had my feet on the ground. But my mother
called me down and say “You have to go. You have to
make sacrifices, sell the business, and go over to join
him.” In those days, you obey your parents, don’t mind
how old you are. My dear blood nearly come out of my
eye. It’s only blood that didn’t come out of my eye.

When | came, he was very sad he didn’t have a proper
house to put me into. The landlady had said we couldn’t
walk through the front door, we had to go through the
back, and no-one could visit there. He bought a right big
basin, and said, “It's in here you have to wash, cos they
are not going to let you use the bathroom.” | wanted so
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badly to go home, but my mother said, ““Stay where you
are. You're not coming home. That's where you belong.”
So | carry on from there. | just pick myself up and carry on.

The first job | find was sixteen miles out of Leeds
where we were living. | am not afraid of talking to
anybody, so | just say to the bus conductor, “Where are
you going? What kind of jobs are going there?” He tell me
there’s a coat factory near the airport, so | just whip on.
When | got to this factory, the manager came and | tell him
| want to earn. | tell him | have no references, never
worked in a factory before, but | will take any job he’s got.
““Suppose | give you a try"”, he said, “what time could you
start?”’ | said, “‘Now. I've got an apron in my bag, another
pair of shoes and sandwiches. | came with the intention of
working.”” He couldn’t believe it. So | started.

The next day he called over a woman. He said to me,
“This is Marion. She’s understanding, she’s one of the
best. You don’t have to go to college to be an intelligent
woman and she is. Sit with her and eat with her.” And if
you go to my room now, you see Marion’s daughter’s
photo and all the family. And | move with that family on
and on. I've been to Scarborough for weekends with
them; all over with them. After she left the factory, she
came to visit me every Saturday. When | eventually got my
house, she showed me where all the wholesale places
were, so | can get curtains and china and bedding.

There was a time when | took a job at the hospital. It
was not a set job. Anywhere they had a bank-up of muck,
they sent me there. | was so fed up. | had to stop. |
couldn’t take any more. Then Marion says to me, “You
don’t have to look for any jobs. I'll take you somewhere.”
She takes me to the Town Hall and | register for four
children. | am interested in small children. They sleep with
me Monday to Friday, and go home Friday evening to
Sunday evening. Also | took two students as lodgers. |
went to America, taking two children to their mother. The
second time | went out there, | wanted to stay, but my
husband wrote to me saying, “No dice. | am not coming to
America. | told you before you leave. And | am not
allowing Jane to come either.”” Jane is my daughter and
she had joined us in England when she was twelve, and
she also wrote to me in America saying ‘Please come back
Mum.”” And when | got their letters | had to come back.

We got on all right, my husband and me. We used to
go to a show or go to the pictures. We didn’t have a car,
but we’d take the bus and we'd just tour, stopping to have
a meal somewhere. He is dead now, and | am living near
my daughter in London.



I

M

| was brought up in Guyana with my mother and
grandmother. My mother had to go to work. My grand-
mother looked after me. My grandmother was a good
cook — She could take nothing and make something out
of it.

My favourite meal was metagee. The main

vegetables, you put plantains, cassava, sweet potatoes —
you have to be careful to add the potatoes when it is nearly
finished.
You put the plantains at the bottom. Then you grate
coconut and squeeze the milk through a linen cloth over
the vegetables. When the plantains at the bottom begin to
burn you mix your duff and add it. If you have it, you can
put dried fish or meat in to steam. Oh we children used to
fight for the bottom of the pot!

Evening — dusk used to be the best, the favourite
time — After you had dinner. In New Amsterdam all the
houses were built on stilts. We had a little porch and we
had a gallery. My grandmother used to sing with us “Jesus
bids us shine” and “‘Lead kindly light””. We had one of
those old gramophones. We used to sing, with the beatles
chu-chuing in the background and the people next door —
children screaming, dogs barking or somebody swearing
at somebody.

And in the mornings, early mornings, cocks crowing,
freshness at 5 o’clock in the morning, cocks crowing, hens
clucking — in the yard we had pigeon peas, ochres,
boulange mangoes, star-apples, custard apples, sapodilla
— and papaya. We used every bit of the papaya — the
green leaf, we used to wrap a papaya leaf around meat to
soften it. | tell you, you wrap a papaya leaf round your leg
and in ten minutes it start to decay — the leaf has that
strength. | didn't believe it. | tried it on once and you see it
straight away. Many plants have strong powers.

My grandmother died 34 years ago. Where we lived,
in New Amsterdam, there were lots of Americans and
Canadians, the big companies. It was a small place but so
many churches! Sunday morning when the bells start
ringing you can hear them from one end of town to
another. You don‘t hear that now. Then there would be
such activity you would rush to church.

It was an advantage being brought up in Guyana as
far as living in England was concerned. There was some
common ground because Guyana was a British colony and
some of the old habits die hard. We used to have to learn a
lot about Britain in school: British history, geography, etc.
So when | went to Manchester | did not feel a stranger.
There were a few who were very suspicious, but after they
got to know you, they accepted you.

| began to feel different after | came down to London.
It was then | started feeling this way. | don’t know the
cause. Sometimes | really feel as if | don’t belong here any
more. | came to Britain because | wanted to see a new
country, get some experience, restart life all over again.
Other countries didn’t attract me. No, | could contribute
here because it was a British country and | was British. |
still am. 7 . ¥

I've been back to Guyana four times in twenty-four
years. If Guyana was the way it was when | left it in 1960, |
would have gone back, you know, taken my time. But not
now. Everything has deteriorated as | see it. It's
everything, everything, the running of the country, the
problems, the economy; to me everything is gone. Many
people there feel people like us are darned lucky to be out
of it all, y’know, and that is true.

| like to mix — | like to know people. | wouldn't like to
stay only in my community. It's no use being a multiracial
person and just be in a ghetto. | would be most unhappy if
it was my people alone. | have all sorts of friends.

So the dread | have has to do with separateness, and
some of those geriatric wards. |'ve been there to see some
old people. — They are there because they’ve got the age
— they look so woebegone — and being a bachelor with
no relatives — | can imagine myself like that — that's why |
worry.

You see this luncheon place? On the other side of the
road is the real thing run by the government. Black people
are not welcome. Even white people don’t go there. | have
a friend who says she doesn’t go there. It's too cliquey and
they gossip. When | think of these things | start to feel a lot
of things. A lot of Caribbean people feel they are outsiders
— but they have to come out of their shells more, become
more like themselves. Some are tired of overcoming
difficulties — tired of trying — tired of hanging on to hope.
Well | try to keep my body as healthy as possible, and if it
breaks down | hope to die.

| love Hyde Park on a lovely summer’s day. | usually
sit under a tree because | like to be near the sun. | sit under
a nice shady tree reading a book, watching the other
people passing by or the kids y’know playing with a ball,
people with their kids — because that is a pleasant sight.|
walk all the way. It's nice, especially if the day is sunny.
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My father was from Barbados and my mother and her
family are from Lodge Village in Guyana. My Grandfather
came from India. My Grandfather was Indian. My family
was all mixed as most Guyanese are, you hardly find a pure
black. All mixtures Indian, Chinese, Portuguese, Cubans,
blacks, they all mix.

We never knew any prejudice. We all lived side by
side.

| grew up with Indians. They are very clean. They
used to eat out of brass pans and drink water out of brass
cups. They used to get the ashes from the fire and scrub
these brass cups and pots. They used to get them very
clean. We got along quite well. We got along so nice with
Indian people. You never gave it a thought that they were
Indian people and you were black. Of course a lot of me
family are Indians.

In my time you had to pay for secondary education.
My mother was the kind of person, she will educate the
boys but not the girls. That was wrong. | had to come out
of school and learn to sew. Parents would say that we girls
have to learn to cook and sew, because we can then be
dressmaker or something. | loved teaching. | wanted to be
a teacher. So many women left school to do service and
domestic work.

At home | done a bit of everything. My brother had a
business that he started at home selling perfrume, then
when he open the business | went and worked for him.
Not for long, because | don‘t stay in one place for too long.
| did most of the work with the customers in the shop.

Then | done a bit of domestic work and after that the
last place that | worked was with me brother and that was
before | come here. During the War | was with the A.T.S.
for eight years in the food section as an orderly there. Oh |
done some shorthand and typing.

| came here 21st October 1961.

Finding somewhere to live was very hard. When you
see the little mice running all over the little room.

Back home everybody got their own house, so when |
heard about a flat, | thought it would have so many rooms.
So when | come here and find a husband and wife and
children in this one room and you call this a flat, | was
disappointed.

| had that experience of living in one room and that
room was like a box 8ft x 6ft. | had to do everything in that

room. | fell off the bed more times than | can care to
remember. | remember cooking a meal one day in that
same room and | put the meal on a table and the whole
table collapsed. | cried.

The picture | had of England in my mind’s eye when |
left my home in Georgetown in Guyana. | was so disap-
pointed | couldn’t believe. | said to myself is this the place
they call England? | was disappointed.

When some people came here and saw the conditions
they went crazy. | know a lot of educated people | saw on
the buses, because they couldn’t get into the Civil Service.
| saw fella | knew from back home. He was a guard on the
train, educated man, Junior and Senior Cambridge which
is very high, and he was at the back of the train. His
education was the same as here because all the papers and
exams came from here, Cambridge.

When | came here and | notice this sort of prejudice, |
couldn’t believe it because you never have time to notice
things like that in your country.

It's just here you know.

| then got a job with London Transport 14th
December 1961. | spent 20 years and 4 months with the
Tube. | retired two years ago. | didn’t come to this place to
stay that long anyway. | have no regrets mind you,
because | have learnt so much with the every-day people
who come through your barrier. You talk to them and | tell
you something. A white person would come through and
talk to you, a black collector, more than they would talk to
a white one, because the black man is always listening. He
has always got a listening ear. He would listen to
somebody’s troubles. | am a good listener. But white
people don’t bother me, | don’t feel uncomfortable with
them.

Guyana is different now. | went home 11 years ago
and it's not the British Guiana | used to know. | mean all
the beauty has gone out of it.

| planned to go home after retirement a few years ago.

| kept ringing up me family and they say ““You better
stay where you are, the conditions here are terrible”. Now
you know if you have got a British Passport you got to
have a visa to go home. You can’t go home without it to
Guyana now.

England is not a home for us, it's a different sort of
thing here anyway, because here if you want to go and see
somebody, probably they are at work. And even if that
person wasn't at work, they are not working, you have to
get on the phone and ring them and tell them that you are
coming. Back home it's not like that, you jump on a bike,
we ride a lot of bikes back home. You can always go to this
person'’s house, here you've got to plan make appointment
and things like that.

What | miss most from my youth in Guyana is the way
of life. | miss the freedom. | knew a lot of people back
home, nice people you know, when you want something
done you just up there and tell them so, so, so.

Why | stay here? Well you saw more opportunity
really here. | can be a woman here. | can get a house. | can
save money. The conditions were financially different to
home. Well this country, there is more work for you.

Also | had two daughters back home. One of them
marry an English man there and they came to live in
England and the younger one she got married to a Guyana
boy and they also came over here. So the kids are here, so
| am stuck.
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During the war, | worked back home in Jamaica for
the Red Cross and the A.T.S. Many people came to
Jamaica as refugees during the war. Jamaica is just a little
hill, and ships came and hid underneath you know, and we
workers had to go on the ships during the night and take
off the wounded and sometimes the dead.

After the war, we were invited into this country by the
Government. Enoch Powell was one of them that sanc-
tioned for the West Indians to come to help clean up this
country after the war. Well, | was at home in Jamaica
doing nothing at the time, so | decided to come, expecting
a decent job and to be treated as an equal. That’s what |
believed, but when | came here and see the picture, it was
a different, different thing altogether. What do | get? | go
to Mile End Hospital and get a job there, and | was placed
on the corridor with a bucket, a scrubbing brush and a mat
to kneel on. | never do that type of work in all my life. |
cried night and | cried day. Coming into this country was
the hardest work | have ever done.

| remember when | went to Mile End Hospital, a little
old woman, a nice little woman, she take me, she look at
my hand, and she couldn’t understand. She said, ““How is
it that the middle of your hand is white and your skin is
black?” She feels my hair and | just sit and let her do that,
and | said to myself, “‘poor thing". | would not say that she
was ignorant. When you don’t know a thing, you just
don’t know, because they never learn anything in school
about black people. Of course | knew about white people
because | have them in my country, trying to get all that
was in that country to bring it into this country.

When | was younger, | regretted coming here because
the life | was living home | could not live here, but | am a
woman that trusts in God and | fight my way out from
when | came in 1956 up to now. | am all right now, thank
God. | have nothing, but | am happy because | feel peace
within myself.

What | see here and | can’t come to it is this. Back
home, a grandmother looked after the grandchildren and
lived in the house. So then, if the grandmother took sick,
the family is there to look after her. We don’t have to send
our grandmothers to homes.Grandchildren grow up to
respect the grandmother, and anything that happens,
those children are there to help. You see they support one
another. This is still going on in Jamaica in the country,
but not in the city. In the villages, say twelve or fourteen
houses, everyone combines together, you are a family. If |
need and you can help me, that’s how we work it. We help
one another. Grandmother plays a vital role as protector of
that family. Grandfathers have their own role to play too,
but grandmother, she is the greatest.

There is nothing like that here in England. | think they
should not build all these old people’s homes. Give the
people a home that all the family can live together and die
together. How nice it is for an old person in her bed with
her grandchildren around her, and she die in peace with
her grandchildren around her.
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In Jamaica and in any other country where the white
people are, we live together. There werent colour
question there. There were people that were in classes
according to their financial standard, rich black person,
rich white person or whatever, not colour. A person was
just a person, in spite of what colour they are. And now,
when we come here, we thought it would be the same.
But that is where the barrier comes in. It's not us, because
we let them in, but they won't let us in.

What could bring a change? Not a thing, not a thing
as | see it. We have tried everything. Not a thing. They
would have to open up. Then there would be a solution.
What would make them open up? Well we don’t know.
We try conversation, offering a hand, it don’t work,
Conscience? We try all sort of different things. Imagine the
days we go to the home, and they are there but they don’t
open the doors because they see your black face.

We are the ones who try, since we are used to that
way of living there. We didn’t want to form any barriers
between them and us so we try to get in as much as we
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can, but they give a smile here and they thinking
something else there, so we couldn‘t getin.

Minister came to us. We were going to sing one day
at a special service and our song was not called. The
people was so much waiting for this song and at the end of
the service, people came to us and said, “Why you didn't
sing?”’, and we say until thence we don’t know, because it
was in the programme. So we find out from the Minister
and he said our kind of music does not fit in so we couldn't
get to sing. And from thence and on the groups of us that
used to sing, that's finished. So we can’t sing there, we
have to sing on our balcony.

Do we care? No, we say “you stop us from singing
there, we sing somewhere else”’ — but yes, we still care.
There is a something, because we feel that because we are
a person we shouldn’t be treated in that way, and it does
leave a feeling there and though we say, “Well, don't
bother me. | don’t mind about them.” But there is still a
something that'’s left there.




In the West Indies | would say they love dominoes and
cricket. | don’t know how it started. | used to make the
dominoes as a sport. | used wire, cut the wood, heat up
the wire and make the holes in the wood. Nobody taught
me to play the game. | just stand up and watch and learn.
Over here you don’t slam the dominoes that much,
because not everybody likes the noise that it makes. In the
West Indies when you play you knock it loud. When you
make noise, that’s the way you get the sweetness of the
game. When you play the game quiet it's not the same.
You have to concentrate on the game because when you
play you don’t like to lose. You watch what your partner
play, you get to know what he has. You play what he play
and he play what you play. So you have to really con-
centrate on the game. This is a beautiful game. People
come and sit and watch.



